FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
12/29/2021 8:00 AM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/29/2021
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

100511-3

NO. 81648-9-1 IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

John Earl Erickson and Shelley Ann Erickson, *in propria persona*, Plaintiffs/Appellants

v.

Deutsche Bank National Trust Company as Trustee for Long Beach Mortgage Loan Trust 2006-4,¹ Defendant/Appellee

PETITION FOR REVIEW OF NOVEMBER 29, 2021 DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

On Appeal from King County Superior Court No. 19-2-12664-7 KNT Judge Joanna Bender presiding

IDENTITY OF PARTIES

On May 13, 2019, John Earl Erickson ("Mr. Erickson") and Shelley Ann Erickson ("Ms. Erickson"), collectively the "Ericksons, commenced an action against "Deutsche Bank National Trust Company as Trustee for Long Beach Mortgage Loan Trust 2006-4". The Ericksons' action seeks relief from the July 17, 2015 Order and the August 27, 2015 Judgment in Deutsche Bank National Trust Company as Trustee for Long Beach Mortgage Loan Trust 2006-4 v. Erickson, et al., No. 14-2-00426-5 KNT ("Foreclosure Action") and for the exercise of the inherent power of the Court, by Independent Action recognized under CR 60(c). Attached to the Complaint are the Declarations of William J. Paatalo with Exhibits A-M and of Wendy Alison Nora with Exhibit A attached thereto. Ericksons also filed Requests for Judicial Notice ("RJN") with RJN Exhibits 1-19 and Supplemental Request for Judicial Notice Exhibit 20.

The Ericksons' original Complaint with the documents attached and their Requests for Judicial Notice, the Summons and the Case Schedule and the Motion for Order to Show Cause for Preliminary Injunction and Declarations in support of the Motion for Order are combined in manner which is different than how they were filed in paper form and total 809 pages. *See* Clerks' Papers (CP) 1-809.

The Ericksons also pleaded other causes of action against the purported Plaintiff in Foreclosure Action because "Deutsche Bank National Trust Company as Trustee for Long Beach Mortgage Loan Trust 2006-4" is the name of the Plaintiff in the Foreclosure Action in which Judgment was taken. This appeal has continued in the name of the putative Plaintiff which was granted judgment in the Foreclosure Action, although it was admitted on June 6, 2019 by Ronaldo Reyes, an officer of Deutsche Bank National Trust Company (CP 1016) in email response to Ms. Erickson's June 5, 2019 email to him that the attorneys from STOEL RIVES, LLP represent SELECT

PORTFOLIO SERVICING, INC. ("SPS") in the Independent Action from which this appeal was taken (Superior Court No. 19-2-12664-7-KNT).

The entity named as the putative beneficiary of the July 17, 2015 Summary Judgment Order (CP 703-706) and the August 27, 2015 Judgment (CP 693-699) is the named Respondent in this appeal, but for accuracy, the Respondent should be referred to as SPS because that is the entity which retained counsel and proceeded in the Foreclosure Action.

In Cause One of their Independent Action, the Ericksons alleged that the July 17, 2015 Order and August 27, 2015 Judgment was procured by fraud on the court. Part of the alleged fraud on the Court is the misidentification of purported Plaintiff and concealment of the identity of SPS, which is the entity which actually initiated the Foreclosure Action through the STOEL RIVES attorneys.

The causes of action in the May 13, 2019 Complaint are set forth below:

- V. CAUSE ONE-FOR RELIEF FROM JUDGMENT FOR FRAUD ON THE COURT (the "Independent Action")
- VI. CAUSE TWO-FOR DECLARATORY JUDGMENTS (to grant relief in the Independent Action)

VII. CAUSE TWO-FOR DAMAGES FROM COMMON LAW FRAUD (which should have been identified as Cause Three)

VIII. BREACH OF IMPLIED COVENANT OF GOOD FAITH AND FAIR DEALING (which should have been identified as Cause Four)

In addition, the Ericksons' Complaint informed the Court:

IX. CR 60 (b)(5) AUTHORIZES ALL JUDGMENTS GRANTED

IN FAVOR OF DBNTC VOID AS A MATTER OF LAW FOR

LACK OF STANDING WHICH IS REQUIRED TO

ESTABLISH SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION; SUBJECT

MATTER JURISIDCTION (sic) MAY BE CHALLENGED AT

ANYTIME AND CANNOT BE WAIVED

CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Decision of the Court of Appeals is unpublished. It is

provided in the Appendix accompanying this Petition for Review as Appendix 1.

CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The Court of Appeals committed constitutional error by violating Petitioners' Due Process Rights in affirming the violation of Petitioners' Due Process Rights when both the Court of Appeals and the Superior Court treated Petitioners' Independent Action as a CR 60 Motion.

The Court of Appeals committed constitutional error by violating Petitioners' Due Process Rights in affirming the violation of Petitioners' Due Process Rights in the Summary Judgment proceedings in Superior Court without notice and opportunity to be heard.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

Page 1 of the May 13, 2019 Complaint (CP 1-35) reads at lines 16-22:

John and Shelley Erickson, Plaintiffs, (hereinafter "Ericksons" and/or "Plaintiffs", bring this independent action in this Court's inherent authority to vacate judgments obtained by fraud on the Court as recognized in CR 60(c), acknowledged in *Wiese v. Cach, LLC*, 189 Wash.App. 466, 358 P.3d 1213 (Wash. App., 2015), citing *Corporate Loan & Security Co. v. Peterson*, 64 Wash.2d 241, 243–44, 391 P.2d 199 (1964), and discussed at length and allowed by the United States Supreme Court in

Hazel-Atlas Glass v. Hartford-Empire Co., 322 U.S. 238, 64 S.Ct. 997, 88 L.Ed. 1250 (1944). (Emphasis added.)

The Foreclosure Action was commenced in the name of "Deutsche Bank National Trust Company as Trustee for Long Beach Mortgage Loan Trust 2006-4" by STOEL RIVES on January 3, 2014 as No. 14-2-00426-5 KNT. *See* May 13, 2019 Request for Judicial Notice Exhibit 1; CP 353-392.

Summary Judgment was granted in the name of the party named as Plaintiff in the Foreclosure Action on July 17, 2015. *See* May 13, 2019 Request for Judicial Notice Exhibit 10; CP 703-706. The Judgment and Decree of Foreclosure was obtained in favor of the named Plaintiff on August 27, 2015. See May 13, 2019 Request for Judicial Notice Exhibit 8; CP 693-699.

On June 5, 2020, Summary Judgment was orally granted in

As stated above, STOEL RIVES has now admitted that it represented SPS in the Foreclosure Action which the Ericksons have produced in connection with their Motions in this appeal, but when the Ericksons filed the judicial admission in the June 6, 2020 Answer in the Related Action as Request for Judicial Notice Exhibit 1 in connection with their Opening Brief, counsel for SPS objected and successfully moved to strike all references to the judicial admission.

favor of "Deutsche Bank National Trust Company as Trustee for Long Beach Mortgage Loan Trust 2006-4" and against the Ericksons (June 5, 2019 Transcript²) upon the Superior Court's *sua sponte* conversion of the October 17, 2019 Motion to Dismiss (CR 1495-1509), pursuant to CR 12(b)(6), without notice to the parties. The *sua sponte* conversion by the Superior Court occurred more than 30 minutes after the commencement of oral argument on June 5, 2019³, depriving the Ericksons of their

The Transcript of the June 5, 2020 Hearing was submitted as Appendix 2 with the Ericksons' Motion for Acceptance of Appendices. The Motion for Acceptance of Appendices was denied on by this Court's Clerk on January 7, 2021. The Ericksons' Motion to Modify the January 7, 2021 Clerk's Order was filed on January 15, 2021. The January 15, 2021 Motion to Modify includes the Ericksons' Motions (a) for Acceptance of Appendices (b) to Supplement the Record and (c) to Stay filing of Appellants' Opening Brief Pending Determination of Motions or, in the alternative, for a Fourth Extension of Time to File Opening Brief was denied by this Court on March 12, 2021.

³ The Court is asked to take judicial notice of the fact commonly known among practitioners and judges that one page of a transcript is the equivalent of at least one minute of court proceedings. Furthermore, in these proceedings there were periods of sufficient silence that the transcriber noted (Silence) in the June 5, 2020 Transcript. See Tr. 8:11, 8:15, 8:20, and 8:22. The conversion of the Motion to Dismiss occurred at least 30 minutes after the commencement of the June 5, 2020 hearing.

opportunity to prepare their opportunity to be fully and fairly heard on the genuine disputes of material fact.

Page 31, line 20 to page 32, line 24 of the Transcript of the June 5, 2020 oral argument at the hearing noted as Motion to Dismiss (CP 1755-1756) reads:

- 20 First of all the motion to dismiss, I am
- 21 **construing as a Rule 56 motion.** There was quite
- 22 a bit of collateral information⁴ submitted by the

If, on a motion asserting the defense numbered (6) to dismiss for failure of the pleading to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, matters outside the pleading are presented to and not excluded by the court, the motion shall be treated as one for summary judgment and disposed of as provided in rule 56, and all parties shall be given reasonable opportunity to present all

⁴ The majority of the "collateral information" in the record was not "collateral information" but consisted of Declarations and Exhibits submitted as part of the May 13, 2019 Complaint and as Requests for Judicial Notice in support thereof. The contents of the Complaint and the documents submitted in support of the Complaint and specifically referenced therein do not support conversion of a motion to dismiss to a motion for summary judgment. Requests for Judicial Notice do not result in converting motions to dismiss to motions for summary judgment. See Jackson v. Quality Loan Serv. Corp. of Wash., 186 Wash.App. 838, 844, 347 P.3d 487 (Wash. App. 2015). As to the Declarations of Paatalo and Nora and the Exhibits attached thereto, the documents filed as part of the original Complaint do not convert a motion to dismiss to a motion for summary judgment because the Complaint and its attachments are not "matters outside the pleading". See CR 12(b) which provides:

- 23 opposing party, which I think does convert it to a
- 24 summary judgment motion, and I am applying that
- 25 standard. So applying that standard, I am
- 1 considering whether construing this evidence in
- 2 the light most favorable to the Ericksons, there
- 3 are any genuine issues of material fact.
- 4 I am going to grant the motion on behalf
- 5 of the defense and dismiss the complaint in its
- 6 entirety. I do find a number -- I have frankly
- 7 agreed with each of the issues raised by the
- 8 defense, that this motion was not timely filed
- 9 under the standards that govern Rule 60, that to
- 10 the extent claims two, three and four are claims
- 11 for affirmative relief, those claims are not
- 12 properly brought in the context of Rule 60 motion,
- 13 and that really the entirety of the claims are
- 14 barred by issue preclusion or collateral estoppel.
- 15 These are issues that have been fully, carefully,
- 16 and thoroughly vetted by several courts in
- 17 Washington State at both the Federal and State

material made pertinent to such a motion by rule 56.

5 The Ericksons did not file a "motion". They filed a new, independent action. If they had filed a motion, they would not have had to pay a new filing fee or serve a Summons and Complaint on the entity identified as the Plaintiff in the Foreclosure Action. The Erickons filed an Independent Action under the inherent authority of the Superior Court as recognized by CR 60(c), *Wiese v. Cach, LLC*, 189 Wash.App. 466, 358 P.3d 1213 (Wash. App., 2015), citing *Corporate Loan & Security Co. v. Peterson*, 64 Wash.2d 241, 243–44, 391 P.2d 199 (1964), and as discussed at length and allowed by the United States Supreme Court in *Hazel-Atlas Glass v. Hartford-Empire Co.*, 322 U.S. 238, 64 S.Ct. 997, 88 L.Ed. 1250 (1944), twelve (12) years after the original judgment when the concealed conduct amounting to fraud on the court was discovered.

- 18 Trial and Appellate level, and this Court cannot
- 19 revisit them. The court clearly, as to claim
- 20 five, does have subject matter jurisdiction and
- 21 can make that finding as a matter of law.⁶ There
- 22 is no issue of material fact with respect to those
- 23 questions. So for all of those reasons, I am
- 24 granting the motion to dismiss. (Emphasis added.)

Thereafter, the Superior Court struck the contents of certain of the Declarations and Exhibits including the Paatalo Declaration and the Nora Declaration which were attached to the Complaint

The Ericksons consistently challenged the standing of the entity seeking the remedy of foreclosure on the basis that it did not hold the Ericksons' March 3, 2006 Note, endorsed-in-blank by lawful authority. The Ericksons Note was not made payable to Long Beach Mortgage Company until March 3, 2006 (CP 580-583), after Mr. Almanza was not longer working at Washington Mutual. The purported endorsement of their Note by Mr. Almanza was alleged to be a forgery in the May 13, 2019 Complaint and in the Declarations of Paatalo and Nora attached to and incorporated by reference in the Complaint.

⁶ One of the issues before the Superior Court in the Independent Action was the standing of the entity identified as the Plaintiff in the Foreclosure Action. Standing is an aspect of a court's power to grant relief. In *Int'l Ass'n of Firefighters, Local 1789 v. Spokane Airports*, 146 Wash.2d 207, n. 3, 45 P.3d 186,(Wash. 2002) the Washington Supreme Court wrote:

^{3.} Although Airport raised the standing issue as an affirmative defense in its answer to Union's complaint, it failed to assert it on summary judgment. The Court of Appeals, however, correctly observed that standing is a jurisdictional issue that can be raised for the first time on appeal.

and were required to be construed as true for purposes of a CR 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss unless CR 12(f) applied.

CR 12(f) provides:

(f) Motion To Strike. Upon motion made by a party before responding to a pleading or, if no responsive pleading is permitted by these rules, upon motion made by a party within 20 days after the service of the pleading upon the party or upon the courts own initiative at any time, the court may order stricken from any pleading any insufficient defense or any redundant, immaterial, impertinent, or scandalous matter.

In considering the Motion to Dismiss, the Declarations of Paatalo and Nora could be determined to be stricken as immaterial if res judicata/collateral estoppel barred the Independent Action, but those doctrines do not bar independent actions for fraud on the court because the very nature of an independent action for fraud on the court is that the underlying judgment was procured by fraud. Judgment was granted in the Foreclosure Action on the basis that the entity identified as "Deutsche Bank National Trust Company as Trustee for Long Beach Mortgage Loan Trust 2006-4" in the Foreclosure

Complaint was the "holder" of the Note endorsed-in-blank but the Ericksons alleged that the endorsement-in-blank was a forgery. *See* May 13, 2019 Complaint, including but not limited to ¶¶3.3, 3.6, 3.9, 3.13, 5.9, 7.4.b.6, and footnote 1 on pages 28-29 (CP 1-35) as well as the Paatalo Declaration including Exhibit G (CP (CP 45-100, CP 301-336, CP 101-300 in the correct order) and the Nora Declaration (CP 347-340) with and Exhibit A (Appendix 1).

Furthermore, the conversion of the CR 12(b)(6)Motion to Dismiss to a Motion for Summary Judgment by the Court *sua sponte* more than 30 minutes after commencement of the hearing noted for hearing on the Motion to Dismiss was unconstitutional as set forth in the ARGUMENT below.

Statement of Facts

The factual basis for Petitioners' claims, supported by voluminous documentary evidence is set forth in the May 13, 2019 Complaint (CP 1-35), which sets forth the nine (9) elements of fraud in painstaking detail. The May 13, 2019 Complaint was

carefully designed to survive a Motion to Dismiss under the standard of *McCurry v. Chevy Chase Bank*, 169 Wn.2d 96, 233 P.3d 861 (Wash. 2010).

ARGUMENT-Reasons for Granting Review

Review should be accepted under one or more of the tests established in Rule 13.4 (b) as set forth below.

- (1) The Court of Appeals' decision (Appendix 1) conflicts with decisions of the Supreme Court.
 - (a) Availability of independent actions for fraud on the court

In State ex rel. Northern Pac. R. Co. v. Superior Court, 101 Wash. 144, 146, 172 P. 336 (1918), the Washington Supreme Court held, with respect to the statutory predecessor to CR 60:

... But this statute was not ample to do justice in all cases, and consequently this court has held a party may, after the expiration of the time limited by law, file a bill in equity to relieve himself of a judgment where its enforcement would result in inequity. *Anderson v. Burgoyne*, 60 Wash. 511, 111 P. 777; *Rowe v. Silbaugh*, 96 Wash. 138, 164 P. 923; *Denny Renton Clay & Coal Co. v. Satori*, 87 Wash. 545, 151 P. 1088.

The Washington Supreme Court cited to the foregoing

passage in *State ex rel. Northern Pacific Ry. Co. v. Superior Court*, supra, and its internal citations verbatim in *Nevers v. Cochrane*, 131 Wash. 225, 226, 229 P. 738 (1924). What was formerly referred to as a "bill of equity" has been recognized in CR 60(c) as an independent action, which may be brought for relief from void judgments or judgments procured through fraud.

In *Corporate Loan & Sec. Co. v. Peterson*, 64 Wn.2d 241, 243, 391 P.2d 199 (Wash. 1964), the Washington Supreme Court held, in denying relief from a default judgment as untimely:

This does not preclude attacks by other procedures on judgments deemed to be void or procured through fraud. See *Nevers v. Cochrane* (1924), 131 Wash. 225, 229 P. 738; *State ex rel. Northern Pac. R. Co. v. Superior Court* (1918), 101 Wash. 144, 172 P. 336. (Emphasis added.)

As succinctly stated by Professor Trautman in his article, cited, supra, '* * After the elapse of a year the only remedy available for the vacation of a judgment is an independent action in equity or a collateral attack. * * *' (p. 519) See *State ex rel. Boyle v. Superior Court* ⁷(1898),

⁷ This is the earliest reference to the institution of separate proceedings for relief from judgments which has been located in available case law. The Supreme Court held:

19 Wash. 128, 52 P.1013.

(b) Denial of notice and opportunity to be heard ("Due Process Rights") renders judgments void

A court enters a void judgment if it did not first provide notice and an opportunity to be heard. *State ex. rel. Adams v. Super. Ct., Pierce Cty.*, 36 Wn.2d 868, 872, 220 P.2d 1081 (1950).

There is a substantial difference between proceedings on a CR 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss governed by *McCurry v. Chevy Chase Bank*, 169 Wn.2d 96, 233 P.3d 861 (Wash. 2010) and a Summary Judgment Motion under CR 56. The former allows the

A bill in equity, or perhaps a petition, would lie to set aside the judgment; but in such case the plaintiff or the party in interest would have to be legally brought in by service of process, and just cause for setting aside the judgment would have to be shown,-for instance, that the process in fact had not been served,-and this alone might not be sufficient, for a party is bound to proceed with reasonable diligence.

Petitioners here proceeded by independent action and served process on the purported judgment creditor, now known to have not appeared by counsel in the underlying foreclosure action. The underlying foreclosure action was commenced, continued and litigated to judgment affirmed on appeal by a law firm representing a concealed third party, Select Portfolio Servicing, Inc. (SPS).

action to survive upon the strength of the allegations in the Complaint and the latter requires opposition based on admissible evidence.

- (2) The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decisions of the Court of Appeals
 - (a) The conversion of the Defendant's CR 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss to a CR 56 Motion for Summary Judgment without prior notice violated the Petitioners' Due Process Rights.

In Blenheim v. Dawson & Hall Ltd., 35 Wn.App. 435, 438-439, 667 P.2d 125 (Wash. App. 1983), the Court of Appeals held:

Because this in substance was a summary judgment, there is a question of whether the parties were given reasonable opportunity to present materials on summary judgment as required by CR 12(c). . . . While ordinarily where a trial court treats a motion under CR 12(b)(6) or 12(c) as one for summary judgment it must ask all parties if they wish to present materials, where the appealing party in fact presented materials and argued the motion as one for summary judgment the trial court need not on its own initiative ask the parties if they wish to present additional materials. Review of this dismissal as a summary judgment is appropriate. (Emphasis added.)

Petitioners demonstrated that, on the basis of the Transcript of the June 5, 2020 Hearing on the Defendant's CR 12(b)(6)

Motion to Dismiss (Appendix 1), the first notice they had that the Superior Court was converting the scheduled CR 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss to a Motion for Summary Judgment under CR 56 was approximately 30 minutes into the June 5, 2020 Hearing (Tr. 31:20-32:24).

(b) Availability of independent actions for fraud on the court

In *Wiese v. CACH, LLC*, 189 Wash.App. 466, 478, 358 P.3d 1213 (Wash. App., 2015), the Court of Appeals held:

¶ 27 Typically, vacation of a judgment is sought under CR 60. However, **Washington courts recognize that vacation of a judgment deemed to be void or procured through fraud may also be sought through an independent action in equity or a collateral attack.** Corporate Loan & Sec. Co. v. Peterson, 64 Wash.2d 241, 243-44, 391 P.2d 199 (1964). The plaintiffs characterize their case as an "independent suit in equity which seeks to vacate the underlying collection action judgments." (Emphasis added.)

These Petitioners characterized Count One of their Complaint as an independent action in equity. The purported Defendant (appearing herein by counsel for SPS without disclosing counsel's actual client) characterized the Independent

Action as a "motion" under CR 60(b)(4). The Court of Appeal ignored the clear submission of the Independent Action and repeated the Superior Court's error in treating the Independent Action as a Motion under CR 60. Count One of the Complaint pleaded the Independent Action for Fraud on the Court and Count Five of the Complaint pleaded that the Summary Judgment in the underlying Foreclosure Action was void for fraud on the court under CR 60(b)(5). Additional causes of action for damages were joined in the Independent Action, along with a cause of action for declaratory relief from the fraud on the court.

At no time did Petitioners plead for relief under CR 60(b)(4) and this Court's long-standing case precedent was disregarded by the Superior Court and the Court of Appeals in dismissing and affirming the dismissal of the entire Complaint as time-barred under CR 60(b)(4). This Court's recent decision in *Fireside Bank v. Askins*, 195 Wash.2d 365, 377, 460 P.3d 157, 163 (Wash. 2020) specifically held, "Without question, a debtor seeking judgment for amounts wrongfully collected or statutory

damages pursuant to the CPA must bring an independent cause of action, rather than bringing a CR 60 motion". Here, Petitioners did exactly what is required to obtain affirmative relief under *Fireside Bank v. Askins*, supra—they filed an Independent Action and served the purported Defendant, which appeared pretended counsel (actually representing SPS) with the Independent Action. Petitioners did not proceed under a CR 60 Motion and the reference to CR 60(b)(5) established that there is no time-bar for relief from void judgments which counsel for the Petitioner's characterized as obtained without subject matter jurisdiction because the issue of standing is jurisdictional.

(3) A significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved.

Clause 1 of the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States of America provides Due Process Rights to citizens of the states.⁸ (Appendix 3) The Court of Appeals

⁸ The Article I, Section 3 of the Constitution of the State of Washington also guarantees due process of law:

Process Rights in affirming the violation. This Court has held that a court enters a void judgment if it did not first provide notice and an opportunity to be heard. *State ex. rel. Adams v. Super. Ct., Pierce Cty.*, 36 Wn.2d 868, 872, 220 P.2d 1081 (1950). In *Watson v. Washington Preferred Life Ins. Co.*, 81 Wn.2d 403, 502 P.2d 1016 (Wash. 1972), this Court held:

The essence of procedural due process is notice and the right to be heard. The notice must be reasonably calculated to apprise a party of the pendency of proceedings affecting him or his property, and must afford an opportunity to present his objections before a competent tribunal. *Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank & Trust Co.*, 339 U.S. 306, 70 S.Ct. 652, 94 L.Ed. [502 P.2d 1020] 865 (1950). . . [I]n *Ware v. Phillips*, 77 Wash.2d 879, 882, 468 P.2d 444, 446 (1970), we observed, 'It is fundamental that a notice to be meaningful must apprise the party to whom it is directed that his person or property is in jeopardy.'

The source of this Court's holdings on procedural due process are generally United States Supreme Court cases applying the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the United

SECTION 3 PERSONAL RIGHTS. No person shall be deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law.

States of America. Accordingly, this Court applies Article I, Section 3 of the Constitution of the State of Washington in conformity with the United States Supreme Court's application of the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. See *Watson*, supra, citing *Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank & Trust Co.*, supra. See also *Williams v. Board of Directors of Endicott School Dist. 308*, 10 Wn.App. 579, 583, 519 P.2d 15 (Wash. App. 1974):

'The fundamental requisite of due process of law is the opportunity to be heard.' *Grannis v. Ordean*, 234 U.S. 385, 394, 34 S.Ct. 779, 783, 58 L.Ed. 1363 [519 P.2d 18] (1914). The hearing must be 'at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner.' *Armstrong v. Manzo*, 380 U.S. 545, 552, 85 S.Ct. 1187 1191, 14 L.Ed.2d 62 (1965).

- (3) The Petition for Review raises significant constitutional issues which must be addressed to assure that the courts of the State of Washington do not violate the Due Process Rights of litigants by
- (a) converting CR 12(b)(6) Motions to Motions for Summary Judgment without notice and opportunity to be heard;
 - (b) failing to permit proceedings for the long-standing right

to relief from judgments alleged to be procured by fraud; and

- (c) determining that affirmative relief is available in the Independent Action.⁹
- (4) This Petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.
- (a) Re-articulation of the historical remedy of a "bill of equity" (now known as an independent action) for relief from judgments deemed to be void or procured by fraud is a matter of substantial public interest and should be reiterated by the

¶46 Finally, the highest court of at least one other state, when engaging in lengthy discussion regarding the limits of its equivalent of CR 60(b), permits affirmative relief in cases where judgment was obtained by fraud. *Kawamata Farms, Inc. v. United Agri Prods.*, 86 Haw. 214, 258-59, 948 P.2d 1055 (1997). While we need not follow the Hawaii Supreme Court, we, too, should reserve our judgment regarding the scope of CR 60(b) for a case that stretches the limits of relief, as did *Kawamata Farms*, not one where the relief squarely falls within those limits.

Here, Petitioners' Independent Action permits the joinder of additional causes of action under established Washington law. *Fireside Bank v. Askins*, 195 Wash.2d at 377.

⁹ In the concurring opinion in *Fireside Bank v. Askins*, 195 Wash.2d at 386 Wiggins, J. states:

Supreme Court (Corporate Loan & Sec. Co. v. Peterson, supra; Wiese v. CACH, LLC, supra);.

- (b) Re-articulation that Due Process Rights require notice to allow the opportunity to be heard before a Motion to Dismiss is converted to a Motion for Summary Judgment (*Blenheim v. Dawson & Hall Ltd.*, supra); and
- (c) Remand for determination of the CR 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss as originally scheduled or for hearing on a properly noticed Motion for Summary Judgment with opportunity to respond.

CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals violated Petitioners' Due Process Rights by failing to grant relief from the Summary Judgment Order by reversing and remanding Petitioners' Independent Action for hearing on the noticed Motion to Dismiss under the standards of *McCurry v. Chevy Chase Bank*, supra. Alternatively, the Ericksons request that this Court reverse and remand for hearing upon a motion for summary judgment filed upon the

required advance notice of no less than 28 days' and properly noted for hearing.