FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/28/2022 3:10 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 100511-3

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

John Earl Erickson and Shelley Ann Erickson,

Appellants

v.

Deutsche Bank National Trust Company as Trustee for Long Beach Mortgage Loan Trust 2006-4,

Respondent

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Court of Appeals, Div. I, No. 81648-9-I

Vanessa Soriano Power, WSBA #30777 STOEL RIVES LLP 600 University Street, Suite 3600 Seattle, WA 98101 206.624.0900

Attorneys for Respondent

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision is Not in Conflict with Appellate Decisions.

The Ericksons argue that the Court of Appeals' decision is in conflict with both Washington Supreme Court decisions and published Court of Appeals decisions related to CR 60. *See* Pet. at 13-19. The Ericksons are in error. The Court of Appeals correctly found that the Ericksons are not entitled to affirmative relief under CR 60.

The Ericksons filed an action to vacate the foreclosure judgment under CR 60(b)(5) "for fraud on the court" and to deem the foreclosure judgment void under CR 60(b)(5) for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. In addition, they tacked on a cause of action for an injunction and declaratory judgment, for "damages from common law fraud," and for breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. The Ericksons appeared to believe that because they filed a separate action to vacate the foreclosure judgment, as opposed to a motion in the underlying action, they were entitled to seek additional, affirmative relief. The Court of Appeals found that the trial court correctly construed the complaint as seeking relief under CR 60 and that, as a matter of law, the Ericksons are not entitled to affirmative relief.

The Ericksons misread applicable law in arguing that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with precedent. CR 60 "is a limited procedural tool that governs relief from final judgments." *Fireside Bank v. Askins*, 195 Wn.2d 365, 161, 460

P.3d 157 (2020) citing Burlingame v. Consol. Mines & Smelting Co., 106 Wn.2d 328, 336, 722 P.2d 67 (1986). "No matter the circumstances, however, the only relief that may be ordered pursuant to CR 60 is relief 'from a final judgment, order, or proceeding,' not any entitlement to affirmative relief." Fireside Bank, 195 Wn.2d at 162 citing CR 60(b). "Thus, 'Rule 60(b) is available only to set aside a prior judgment or order; courts may not use Rule 60(b) to grant affirmative relief in addition to the relief contained in the prior order or judgment." Fireside Bank, 195 Wn.2d at 162 quoting Geonerco, Inc. v. Grand Ridge Props. IV, LLC, 159 Wn. App. 536, 542, 248 P.3d 1047 (2011). Indeed, the *Fireside Bank* Court made clear that "on a CR 60(b) motion, a trial court cannot order additional obligations outside the original judgment, such as an award of monetary damages." Fireside Bank, 195 Wn.2d at 162, citing Geonerco, 159 Wn. App. at 541.

The Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with both Fireside Bank. Regardless of the procedural nature of the

Ericksons' filing – as a new action versus a motion to vacate – the Court of Appeals properly ruled that the *substance* of the Ericksons' request for additional relief under CR 60 falls short. Nor does the Court of Appeals decision conflict with *Wiese v. Cach LLC*, 189 Wn. App. 466, 358 P.3d 1213 (2015). *Wiese* addressed whether an action to vacate judgments in collection cases was subject to arbitration or could be filed as an independent suit under CR 60, and has no bearing here. In sum, the Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with precedent.

B. The Ericksons' Petition Does Not Raise Significant Constitutional Issues.

The Ericksons' petition does not raise significant issues under the Washington Constitution. Their belief that the trial court committed a due process violation when the Trust's CR 12(b)(6) motion was converted to a motion for summary judgment is misplaced. Indeed, it was the Ericksons' own submission of material that caused the conversion.

"When a party submits documents that were not contained in the original complaint for consideration by the court in

assessing a CR 12(b)(6) motion, those submissions generally convert the motion to dismiss into a motion for summary judgment under CR 56." Singh v. Federal Nat'l Mortgage Ass'n, 4 Wn. App.2d 1, 4-5, 428 P.3d 373 (2018) citing McAfee v. Select Portfolio Servicing, Inc., 193 Wn. App. 220, 226, 370 P.3d 25 (2016). That is precisely what occurred here. RP 53:20-54:3 ("There was quite a bit of collateral information submitted by the opposing party, which I think does convert it to a summary judgment motion, and I am applying that standard. So applying that standard, I am considering whether construing this evidence in the light most favorable to the Ericksons, there are any genuine issues of material fact."). In filing the complaint, the Ericksons sought judicial notice of 18 documents totaling hundreds of pages. The Trust did not object.

The Ericksons had ample notice of the Trust's motion to dismiss, and the fact that it relied on the Ericksons' own, voluminous exhibits filed with the complaint. To wit, the Trust's motion was filed in October 2019, but because the case was

stayed pending Mr. Erickson's bankruptcy filing, hearing on the motion did not occur until a full eight months later, in June 2020. Finally, despite making a vague argument asserting violation of their rights, the Ericksons identify no additional evidence that the trial court did not already have before it that would have been relevant to the Court's consideration of the motion.

The Court of Appeals correctly ruled that the trial court's conversion of the motion to dismiss into a motion for summary judgment was proper. The Court of Appeals noted that the "Ericksons filed 31 documents and four motions over the course of the 13 months between the denial of their motion for a preliminary injunction and the hearing on [the Trust's] motion to dismiss." Opinion at 4. In their petition, beyond making a vague assertion that conversion to summary judgment violated their due process rights, the Ericksons point to no specific evidence that they were unable to rely upon to defend their claims. There is no significant constitutional issue before the Court.

C. The Ericksons' Petition Does Not Raise an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

The Ericksons' articulation of the purported substantial public interest at issue is but a reiteration of their other arguments related to CR 60 and conversion of the motion to dismiss into a motion for summary judgment. The Ericksons had ample opportunity to present their case and be heard. And that is just what occurred here.

The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the Ericksons are not entitled to affirmative relief under CR 60, and that conversion of the Trust's motion to dismiss into a motion for summary judgment did not violate the Ericksons' rights. The Ericksons appear to indirectly take issue with the Court of Appeals' determination that the Ericksons' claims are separately barred on collateral estoppel grounds by arguing that they have asserted an "independent action" for fraud. *See* Pet. at 22, n. 9. That argument is baseless and fails under the doctrine of collateral estoppel.

The Court of Appeals correctly found that collateral estoppel bars the Ericksons' claims because the claims rely on the same allegation, previously litigated multiple times, that the Trust does not hold the original Note and does not have standing to foreclose. Collateral estoppel prevents re-litigation of an issue after the party estopped has had a full and fair opportunity to present its case. Hanson v. City of Snohomish, 121 Wn.2d 552, 561, 852 P.2d 295 (1993). Collateral estoppel requires four elements: (1) identical issues; (2) a final judgment on the merits; (3) same parties or parties in privity; and (4) application of the doctrine must not work an injustice on the party against whom it is to be applied. *Hadley v. Maxwell*, 144 Wn.2d 306, 311-12, 27 P.3d 600 (2001).

The Court of Appeals found:

• The Ericksons "present identical issues as they did in a federal proceeding in 2010, and again in a superior court action in 2014," namely that the Trust "does not possess the valid, original note and therefore did not

have standing to foreclose on their home." Opinion at 7.

- "[B]oth prior adjudications ended on a valid, final judgment on the merits." *Id*.
- The "Ericksons were parties to both the federal proceeding and the superior court proceeding." *Id.* at 8.
- Collateral estoppel "will not work an injustice against the Ericksons. This is the third time the Ericksons have raised an identical claim. They have had more than a full and fair opportunity to litigate their case in both state and federal court." *Id.*

As the Court of Appeals concluded, "application of collateral estoppel is appropriate here, where the Ericksons bring a third identical claim against the same party." *Id.* 9.

IV. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court's order granting summary judgment in favor of the Trust, and

dismissing the Ericksons' complaint with prejudice on multiple grounds. The Ericksons provide no valid basis for this Court to grant review. The Trust respectfully requests that the Court deny the Ericksons' petition.